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Open-Air Museum of Lithuania

Audioguide
Welcome to the Open-Air Museum of Lithuania! It is one of the largest ethnographic open-air museums in Europe having the richest collection of exhibits. The total area of 195 hectares contains 140 buildings and approximately 90 thousand exhibits. The visitors of museum are introduced to the everyday life, activities and traditions of peasants and townspeople of all Lithuanian ethnographic regions (Dzūkija, Aukštatija, Suvalkija, Samogitia and Lithuania Minor) of the late 18th and early 20th century.
Established in 1966, the museum is situated near Rumšiškės, in the lands of Pievelės Village, in a picturesque coast of the Kaunas Reservoir. Along the route meandering between forests, meadows and hills, the visitors will have a chance to enjoy the Lithuanian rural scenery, to visit cosy homesteads with century-old buildings and flower gardens that have been looked after by the Lithuanian women since the old times, to stop by the orchards where the scent of apples lingers in the autumn air and to concentrate. Traditional crosses and chapels will invite you to remember what is the most important, what is lost and found.  Here you will also have an opportunity to explore the technical facilities: windmills, kersey fulling-mill, forge and oil-mill. The exile and resistance sector recalls the painful past of Lithuanian history. The central part of museum is occupied by a small town with its characteristic buildings.
During this tour, we invite you to have a look at the residential-commercial house that was owned by the Jewish family in the 19th century. It contains three expositions of the inter-war period: state vodka shop, i.e., so-called monopoly, Jew’s apartment and ironmonger’s shop. Here you will find the most characteristic furniture of the tradesman’s house, the religious objects he once used, a collection of alcoholic and non-alcoholic beverages and a wide range of goods that used to be sold in the ironmonger’s shop during the inter-war period. 
We wish you a good time here!
Residential-commercial house from Šiaulėnai
(1) Residential-commercial house from Šiaulėnai
The first exhibit is the residential-commercial house from Šiaulėnai. 
It is a typical building of the 19th century Lithuanian town which was owned by wealthy Jewish tradesmen Leibė Nurokas and Aronas Šapiro. During the inter-war period, an average-sized Lithuanian town used to have from over ten to several tens of shops. The nameplates with inscriptions used to describe the main profile of the shop: beverages, meat, small goods, drapery, tobacco and cigarettes, ironmonger’s goods and so on. The majority of shops, however, were not too specialised, especially in the small towns, and used to sell various things from needle and matches to herring or bike. The nameplates that used to be fitted over the entrance to the trading house contained the name of the shop and the surname of its owner. The trade was regulated by the national laws or resolutions adopted by the municipalities. 
The majority of shops were traditionally owned by the Jews. The Lithuanians used to establish consumer cooperative shops as a balance to the commerce of the Jews. There were significantly less shops owned by Lithuanians as only few of them could compete with the Jews. 
According to the contemporaries, the Jews were smart tradesmen and were excellent in attracting customers with their flattery talks and small gifts. Jewish tradesmen also used to sell the goods on loan for their loyal customers. They used to write names of debtors in the book and at the end of the week, after the client paid up the bill, he also used to be treated with candies or chocolate.  
This house was built in Šiaulėnai, Radviliškis District, in the 19th century. It was brought to the museum in 1985. During the inter-war period, this house contained two apartments and shops. The building is of the shape of letter L, single-storey and has a cellar. The frame is built of logs, foundation – of stones, floor and ceiling – of blanks and roof is covered with laths. The house is modestly decorated: the frames of outside doors, windows and blinds are painted in white. 
Let us go inside to explore the exposition of the inter-war period state vodka shop that used to be called the monopoly. The first exhibit is the counter. It is object number 2.
(2) Counter
The exposition displays the furniture of the late 19th century – early 20th century that used to stand in the wine cellar of A. Habdankas in Žiežmariai. There was a shop in the wine cellar selling wine and most likely vodka to take way. Until the early 20th century, in the official documents of the Russian Empire, vodka used to be called the grain wine. 
In Žiežmariai, the monopoly used to occupy only one room of the entire building. The buyers used to come from the street and the seller used to come and meet them through the door fitted in the frontal wall. The door used to have a glass window. Having noticed the client, the seller rushed to service him. The mushroom-shaped bell used to hang over the door leading to the street and notified about the buyers entering the shop. The supports (brackets) were fitted outside the building to hold kerosene lamps.
During the First World War, in 1915, the house was hit by a projectile in Žiemariai.  Its fragments killed one of the relatives of Habdankas’ family. One can still notice the marks of fragments on the monopoly furniture. This death shocked the owners of the shop so badly that they decided to shut down the wine cellar and close the monopoly room. Found in 1978, the furniture of monopoly is extremely unique. No other Lithuanian museum has any of such exhibits. 
Counters are made of boxes composed of the bottom of planks, ends of planks, top of planks and three impressive planes in the front. The fourth wall of both countertops is fitted with glass door. The internal capacity of one counter is divided into two levels and the other counter – into three levels. On the front of the counter one can see the advertisement of the shop of R. Breneris soda beverages that used to work during the inter-war period. 
The next exhibit is the mesh for separating the counters. 
(3) Mesh for separating the counters
The purpose of metal mesh placed on the counters was to separate the clients from the bottles kept on the shelves. The mesh is spread on a wooden frame. The bottles were sold and accepted through the window in the middle of the mesh. Here the clients also used to give money and the seller used to give the change. 
Exhibit number 4 is the cash desk.
(4) Cash desk 
The cash desk is made of thin strips of wood. The upper flip cover is fitted with two hinges. 
The seller used to keep the money and accountancy books in the cash desk. The inclined plane was used for writing. 
And now please take a look at the shelves used for storing bottles. They are marked by number 5.
(5) Shelves for storing bottles
Black painted shelves are composed of two symmetrical parts mounted on both sides of inner glass door. Over the door there is a shelf and decorative door portal with a clock. The shop used to be opened and closed exactly according to the hours indicated by this clock. It was controlled by the local government. One side of the shelf is composed of three parts. The central part is fitted with glazed arched doors used for closing the cabinet. 
There is a collection of bottles of alcoholic and non-alcoholic beverages displayed on the shelves. 
The exposition contains the bottles that were used in the late 19th century and the mid 20th century for various alcoholic beverages (vodka, wine, balsam, nalewka and spirit) and also several boxes for storing these bottles. These beverages were produced by the companies of the Russian Empire and other foreign countries as well as the inter-war Lithuania. The majority of the exhibited bottles have original labels. They are exceptionally valuable. 
And now please take a look at the bottle number 6 that was used for alcoholic beverage.
(6) Labelled bottle for alcoholic beverage  
In the 19th century and the early 20th century, the Russian Empire, which then also had Lithuania in its composition, officially produced by 105-110 million buckets of vodka annually. Bucket was the unit of measure of vodka that was in force in Lithuania until the First World War. The procedure described by Ivan Pryzhov in the history of Russian alehouses was valid for some time: “… only drinking is permitted and eating is forbidden in the alehouses”. Until 1885, it was required to sell vodka to take way in buckets only. 
In 1894, the monopoly law was introduced in Russia. Since then, only the state had a right to sell spirit, vodka and vodka products in the internal market, meaning, that only national factories could produce and sell vodka. In 1906, in Kaunas, the vodka warehouse was built which is currently used by the alcohol producer – public limited-liability company “Stumbras”. People could buy vodka in national and private shops but only at a price dictated by the state. 
After the declaration of independence, the Lithuanian government put the spotlight on the restoration of the economy. The policy of alcohol production and trade had to guarantee high and fast budget income. In 1923, the national vodka monopoly was introduced in Lithuania and continued to be effective until the Soviet occupation in 1940. The production of alcohol was strictly regulated by the laws and rules of the central government and by the laws issued by the municipality councils. The retail trade in alcohol was permitted in commercial companies of the three categories: state shops of alcoholic beverages, alehouses and the inns. 
The state vodka shop was usually called the monopoly. This definition had been used since the times of the ruling of the Russian Empire. In the monopoly, one could purchase vodka, ordinary and methylated spirit. The shop sold bottles for take away only. It was forbidden to drink in the shop or nearby. 
The alcohol was not sold to young persons under the age of 18 or people under the influence of alcohol and also was not sold on loan. In 1920s – 1930s, the anti-alcohol campaigns were strongly promoted. The stores and pubs were required to have periodical and non-periodical publications issued by abstinence fellowships as well as posters. It was forbidden to display bottles in the windows or other similar places of the shop and there had to be no images or any other advertising of alcoholic beverages in the signboards. The curtains were obligatory in the windows of the shops. 
The bottles of vodka and spirit were corked up. The corks and part of bottle neck were covered with red or brown sealing-wax and banderol.  The colour and text of banderol depended on a volume of bottle, strength and origin of alcohol, i.e., local or foreign production. The glued side of label contained the stamp of warehouse of national monopoly and a date. The price of beverage was indicated on the label. The empty bottle with undamaged label could be returned to the monopoly. 
During the inter-war period, people used unique definitions to name alcohol containers. For example, an average-sized glass of national vodka used to be called vikariškas (vicarish), large glass – kleboniškas (parsonish), quarter-litre bottle of vodka – četvertukas (quarter) or piemenukas (little shepherd), litre of vodka – stulginskis (name of Lithuanian President). When buying spirit, people sometimes asked for komunistas (communist). 
This bottle was made of dark green glass. It has a shape similar to cylinder, an indentation on the base and a notch on the neck. The label has an inscription in Cyrillic: “A. Habdankas wine cellar, Žiežmariai town”. This is the only bottle with a label of this kind from Žiežmariai wine cellar. 
To the right of the bottle are displayed seven bottles of alcoholic beverages that used to be produced in the Russian Empire. The base of one bottle has a casted date (1894) and inscription in Cyrillic indicating the initial letters of the manufacturer’s surname, the place of manufacture and volume of container. The next bottle was used for white Bessarabia wine produced by company “Feiko ir Ko” in St. Petersburg.  The beverages of the other four bottles were produced by company “Bekmano ir Ko” in the same city. This was nalewka “Anglų karčioji”, “Jerofejičius” and Riga balsam bottled into ceramic bottles. Public limited-liability company “Bekmanas ir Ko” was one of the largest producers of alcoholic beverages in the Russian Empire in 1870s – 1880s.  The company was established in St. Petersburg in 1870 and had several owners. It produced more than 100 names of vodka, liquor, wine and other beverages. The company’s trademark was a horseshoe. “Bekmano ir Ko” production was characterised by interesting forms of bottles. A small flat flask-type bottle that could easily fit into the pocket was especially popular. 
On the left you can find three bottles for alcoholic beverages that were produced in other foreign countries. The inscriptions are casted on the outside surface of bottles. The bottle with inscription “F. J. MAMPE STARGARD/POM” was produced by the liquor shop of Ferdinand Johnann Mampe in Stargard Szczeciński, the current territory of Poland, in about 1894. This company was operating in 1835 – 1945. The “shoulder” of bottle with inscription “HARTWIG KANTOROWICZ POSEN” has an embossed circle with the Star of David and a fish in the middle. On the sides are letters “H K”. The beverage was produced by vodka and liquor factory “Hartwig Kantorowicz” in Poznan on the second half of the 19th century and the early 20th century. The factory was established in 1823. The third bottle has an inscription “JACOBINER”. This is the liquor produced by the German company “Jacobi” that has been operating since 1880. 
The other displayed bottles and beverages that were bottled in them were produced in the inter-war Lithuania. One of them is the bottle used for rowan wine. It is object number 7.
(7) Bottle used for rowan wine
The cylinder-shaped bottle is made of the blue colour glass. There is an indentation on the base and a notch on the neck. The colour label illustrates a cluster of rowan berries. 
This wine was produced in Anykščiai, in Balys Karazija’s fruit-berry winery that was established in 1926. Balys Karazija was engaged in the winery until the first Soviet occupation. He was the most famous wine producer of the inter-war Lithuania. In 1939, this company produced 900 thousand litres of wine. The wine of the harvest of 1927 was displayed in the exhibition of the Chamber of Agriculture in Kaunas and was awarded with a medal. In 1938, at the international exhibition that took place in Paris, Balys Karazija’s wine “Birutė” was awarded with the main reward, whereas “Senasis vynas”  (“The Old Wine”) and “Banga” (“The Wave”) – with the gold medals. 
(8) Bottle used for gooseberry wine “Senasis vynas”
The bottle was made of blue colour glass. The shape is similar to a cylinder. The base has an indentation and the neck has a notch. The colour label has an illustration of a man dressed in Renaissance-era clothes and holding a stick. Behind him there is a building with towers, sails of ships and plants. Over the building are six medals with inscription of years: 1935, 1936 and 1937. The stripe under the feet of townsman has an inscription: “Karazija / ANYKŠČIAI”. 
Balys Karazija’s fruit-berry winery in Anykščiai also produced a wine of gooseberry flavour. It was awarded with a gold medal at the international fair in Paris in 1938. 
Balys Karazija was characterised by excellent marketing skills. His winery was always open for excursions, the owner himself used to tell stories to the visitors on the particularities of wine production. The romantic telling about the Queen of England drinking Karazija’s wine was very popular in Lithuania.
(9) Bottle used for alcoholic beverage 
This bottle has a colour label. The circle on its side illustrates a trademark of the factory. There is a man sitting on a barrel illustrated in the centre of the trademark. He holds a glass of wine in his one hand and a branch of vine-tree in another. Most likely this is the illustrations of the Roman God Bacchus. 
The beverage was produced in Kaunas, in liquor factory “Bachus”. It was established in 1921. It advertised itself to be the first major Lithuanian liquor shop. Its production included liquor, cognac, wine and vodka. The owners of the shop used to purchase spirit, fruits and berries in the internal market and to bring additives from Germany. In 1923, the company had 30 to 50 employees. The majority of them were women. 
(10) Bottle used for vodka
Colourless glass bottle is of the shape similar to cylinder. Its “shoulders” are steep and slightly rounded. The bottle has a white label with an illustration of a bison and corona of oak trees. The label says: “STUMBRINĖ / LIKERIŲ FABRIKAS STUMBRAS” (Stumbrinė / Liquor Factory Stumbras). The alcohol content in degrees (40) is indicated on the sides of corona. The beverage was produced in Kaunas, in liquor factory “Stumbras”.  Still operating factory “Stumbras” was established in Kaunas in 1906 as “State Vodka (Spirit) Purification Warehouse No 1”. This company used two types of spirit (of 96 and 90 degrees) for the production of vodka. Here it was bottled into various sizes of bottles and entered into commerce. After the declaration of independence and pursuant to the law on the national vodka monopoly of 1923, Kaunas vodka warehouse serviced the territory covering the area from Zarasai to Raseiniai. In 1926, “Stumbras” company had 65 employees. The newest technique was purchased and buildings were renovated. In 1939, General M. Velykis established a liquor factory. It produced liquors, special vodkas, including stumbrinė and šermukšninė, as well as krupnik. The company used the image of bison as its trademark. Later it became the partner of Kaunas Vodka Warehouse.
(11) Bottle used for vodka “Skaidrioji”
The label of colourless glass bottle indicates it to be a strong, twice processed transparent vodka with the alcohol content of 40 degrees. The trade in this beverage was owned by the national monopoly of spirit. It cost 2 Litas and 5 cents. By returning the empty bottle one could earn 30 cents.  
(12) Bottle used for national vodka 
Colourless glass bottle is of the shape similar to cylinder. As the majority of other bottles, its base has an indentation and neck has a notch. The bottle has a rectangular colour label. On the top of oval ornament there is an image of the coat of arms (Vytis) of the Republic of Lithuania and Columns of Gediminas. The label indicates that this is the bottle of national vodka with the alcohol content of 38 degrees. It cost 1 Litas and 50 cents. The label was printed in “Spindulys” printing-house that used to operate in Kaunas.  
(13) Bottle used for national spirit 
The label of blue colour glass bottle illustrates the coat of arms (Vytis) of the Republic of Lithuania, the stripe and the rays of the rising sun. The ears of cereal are illustrated on the sides. The label indicates it to be the national spirit with the alcohol content of 95 degrees and of the price of 3 Litas and 50 cents. The label was produced in Kaunas, in “Spindulys” printing-house. 
There were 31 spirit factories in Lithuania in 1923. The spirit was initially produced of grain and non-rectified, meaning that the mixture was not divided into composite parts in accordance with the respective boiling temperature. In the late 19th century, producers started to make spirit of potatoes and to rectify the product.
Object number 14 is the box for storing bottles.
(14) Box used for storing bottles
The box is made of planks fitted with metal stripes. It total, there are 48 places for placing bottles at the bottom – eight rows with six places. There is a special hole-handle on each side of the box. The bottom of the box is also made of planks. It has 48 openings for fitting the necks of bottles. 
The boxes with bottles were usually carried in a platform-type carriage without grating. The boxes used to be placed next to each other. The horse was harnessed with an arch so that the wagon could also go backwards. 
Now let us move to another part of the house with the exposition of the Jew’s apartment. You will find the first exhibit in the ante-room. It is a case (mezuzah) fitted to the door frame and marked by number 15.  
(15) Mezuzah 
As soon as visitors cross the doorstep, they can see that the furniture of this apartment does not differ from the furniture of other town residents. However, there were differences between the apartments of Jews and Lithuanians. What were those differences? 
First of all, these apartments were different according to the type of usage of furniture. In the bedrooms, the beds were not pushed together as the spouses used to sleep separately. The dishes of the different purposes of use were kept in different furniture. The food was prepared in a different way here and ceremonial objects of Lithuanian Jews could only be found in the apartment. 
In Hebrew, mezuzah means “doorpost”. This ritual object was used at home and in synagogues. Mezuzah is a piece of parchment inscribed with the verses from the Torah. The blessing used to be read when preparing to affix mezuzah to the doorpost: “Blessed are You, Lord our God, King of the Universe, Who sanctified us with His mitzvoth, and commanded us to affix a mezuzah.” The holy words of mezuzahs were believed to protect the home. When entering or leaving the room or the home, the Jews used to kiss the fingertips and touch mezuzah by worshipping it in this symbolical way. 
Mezuzah cases are usually of oblong shape. They are produced of wood, silver, copper, ceramics, glass and decorated with ornaments, images of the Holy land.
Cases of mezuzahs are affixed to the frames of the outside doors of Jew tradesman’s apartment and frames of all inside doors. 
Now let us move to the kitchen which is next to the room. The other exhibit is the donation box.
(16) Donation box 
The Lithuanian Jewish families did not eat in the kitchen. They used kitchen only for preparation of food. Lithuanian peasants, on the other hand, used to prepare and eat food in the same place.
People who knew little about the traditions of the Jews were amazed by the abundance and variety of dishes and utensils used in the Jew’s kitchen. The Jews used to prepare and bake food on the stove or Primus heater. The water for the tea used to be boiled in a kettle, so-caller samovar, which was used in the morning and in the evening. 
Traditionally, the Jews used to separate food into three groups: meaty, milky and neutral. Neutral food included fish, eggs, honey and green food – fruits, vegetables, cereal and leguminous cultures. Jewish dietary system is called kashrut. A fundamental law is to keep meat and milk separate when preparing or eating food, therefore, different sets of kitchen utensils were used: dishes to boil and bake food, to place meals on the table and vessels for washing dishes. Lithuanian Jews had three sets of dishes: for milk, meaty food and Pesach festival. In the exposition of kitchen, there are two sets of dishes that were used for milk and meat-based food, and the third set used to be stored in the loft of the house and used here only before the Pesach festival. A week-long festival is celebrated in spring time as a commemoration of the liberation of Jews from the Egyptian slavery. In Torah, Pesach festival is called the Festival of the Unleavened Bread. Running from the slavery, the Jews took flour, water and used to bake matzos on the stones in the desert.  Since then one of the most important symbols of festival was unleavened bread, so-called matzo. A special attention is given to the dishes. The dishes that were used during the year cannot be used for Pesach festival as it is believed that even washed dishes have traces of leaven. Therefore, nearly all Jews have separate dishes for the Pesach Festival.
Jews used to keep sets of dishes on separate shelves or different sides of buffet. The table contained two drawers for keeping flatware. The colour of dishes as well as the edges of plates used to be different.  
Lithuanian Jews never mixed dishes used for fish and other dishes. The fish was cooked in a separate pot and separate plates were used for eating fish. Although fish is considered as a neutral product, it is forbidden to eat fish together with meat. If by any chance meat was eaten after the fish, before starting to eat meat, the dishes that were used for eating fish were taken to the kitchen and people used to rinse their mouth before eating meat. 
The donation had an important meaning in the Jewish religion. According to Jewish traditions, a pecuniary donation used to be placed into donation box every Friday. It was believed that the most meaningful donation is the donation for the religious education. Donation boxes were made of tin or wood. 
The exhibited wooden donation box was made in 1940s in “Laure&Co” factory, in Vienna, Austria,  The box contains an inscription in Hebrew “Torah fund” and a quotation from Talmud: “Were it not for the Torah, heaven and earth would not continue to exist”. The quotation from the Talmud is illustrated by the picture of Torah representing tables of laws of the God, bodies of the sky and the globe. The “Torah fund” donation box was used to support the higher religious schools of the Jews.
Exhibits marked by number 17 are the candlesticks placed on the table prepared for the Shabbat Dinner. 
(17) Candlesticks 
Exhibits marked by number 17 are the candlesticks placed on the table prepared for the Shabbat Dinner. Shabbat starts on every Friday evening by lighting the candles in the candlesticks.  Candlestick with two or several branches used to be placed on the table (usually the number of the candles matched the number of family members). The candlestick with two branches symbolises the vow to “remember” and “celebrate” Shabbat. The Shabbat candles were lit by the women on each Friday evening, on a certain time before the sunset, who also used to say a prayer for the God. The already lit candles could not be moved to another place. The lighting of the candles used to symbolise the gratitude to the God – the creator of the heavenly light, Who separated the light from the dark and the Holy Shabbat day from other days of the week.  During the Shabbat dinner the candles used to light until they completely burnt out. Two pair-type candlesticks made of colour metal with white paraffin candles are displayed in the exposition of Shabbat Dinner. The surface of the candlesticks is decorated with stamped green ornament. The word “I. EHRKIC” is stamped on the circle-shaped stand. 
The exposition “Shabbat Dinner” is displayed in the Jews' apartment. Here stands a buffet, sofa, whatnot with books and a table where the family used to eat every day and during festivals and used to gather in the evenings. The table is prepared for the Shabbat Dinner. 
Shabbat is the most important and special Jewish festival commemorated on each Saturday. In Hebrew, “Shabbat” means “rest”. The Saturday was dedicated for the commemoration of the creation of the World, therefore, the religious Jews used this day for rest. During this festival, it was forbidden to speak about the money, business matters and was used to celebrate the blessing of the God. The Jews used to compare Shabbat with a bride or a queen. 39 types of works are forbidden on Shabbat. Before the Shabbat, home is cleaned, beddings are changed, bath is taken and clothes are changed into clean and neat ones. Friday evening is the beginning of Shabbat. 
Festive dishes and flatware as well as candlesticks are placed on the table spread with a beautiful tablecloth. On a plate there are two challahs – braided breads covered with a cloth. Here also used to stand a salt-cellar, decanter with home-made raisin wine and goblets. The one used by the owner is placed on a plate to prevent wine from dripping on the tablecloth as the goblet used to be top-full. 
Having lit the candles the women used to say a special prayer and men with boys used to go out to synagogue.  Women used to stay at home and wait for the family to return. Men used to pray for half an hour in a synagogue on Fridays and then returned home. There was a popular legend in Lithuania that a man brings two angels on his shoulders from synagogue: a white angel on one shoulder and a dark angel on another. The angels brought home used to check whether everything is neat, family is dressed in festive clothes and the food is prepared. If everything is neat and light – a white angel stays at home. If not – a dark angel stays, meaning that the next week is going to be unsuccessful for the people of this home.  
Having returned from the synagogue, men used to wash their hands. Then the family man used to stand by the table and say a prayer with a glass of wine in his hand. This is the Kiddush cup.  The family man used to bless the wine and the festival, thus, the beginning of festival used to be marked with Kiddush (blessing) ritual.
After the blessing, everyone used to drink wine from the goblets and family man used to open the challahs. Having said the prayer, he used to cut a piece of challah and put it in a salt. According to the Jewish traditions, the first bite had to be salted. Lithuanian Jews never ate from one and the same dish and never drank from one and the same cup.
(18) Cup 
This is a Kiddush cup used for wine and blessing of Shabbat before the dinner. The cup is made of silver, rolled and decorated with geometric green ornament illustrating buildings. It was made in Kiev in the late 19th – early 20th century. It was used in Kaunas in the early 20th century.
(19) Salt-cellar 
It is made of colourless glass and is of hexagonal shape. It was bought in Vabalninkas Town in 1940s. 
(20) Goblet
This silver rolled and green ornament decorated goblet was made in Poland and has an inscription in German and Hebrew languages. In 1924, this goblet was donated to a Jew boy on the day of his religious adulthood, his 13th birthday. 
(21) Gramophone 
This is a device used for playing vinyl records. Exhibited gramophone was produced in the Soviet Union, in Krasnogvardeisk city, in 1922. Its head with inscription “Prometeus” was made in Leningrad. Various technique innovations were especially liked by the wealthy Jews, therefore, they had not only a radio, but also a gramophone for playing vinyl records at home. 
Member of the European Parliament, Radvilė Morkūnaitė-Mikulienė, also donated a candlestick, kiddush cup, plate for the cup, linen, napkins for two challahs, kippa and three cases for mezuzahs for this exposition of Jew’s apartment. 
And now let us move to the third exposition of this house designated for the ironmonger’s shop. The first exhibit is a metalworking bench vise. It is object number 22.
(22) Metalworking bench vise 
Ironmonger’s shop was opened in an extension to the house. Here metalworkers used to purchase metal and others buyers used to purchase various industrial products. 
The shop was fitted in a single room and could be entered from the street through single swing-door. Nearby is the window with swing-blinds. There are little doors under the window that were used to roll in barrels and bring iron bars of various profiles. There are wooden shelves fitted by the wall and a little bit further is a counter. On the opposite wall one can notice the door leading to the residential premises. Usually this door was fitted with a glass so that the tradesman could see the customers coming to the shop. 
Strip iron of various profiles, so-called štobos, were kept in the ironmonger’s shop near the rearmost wall of the building. The most popular of them was šininė used to upholster wheels and akėtvirbalinė (tine) used to manufacture harrow spikes and share iron. Here it was possible to purchase flat strips of rectangular cross-section as well as semi-round strips that were mostly used for the production of carriages, chaises, agricultural machines and inventory. Flail iron was used for production of horse-drawn flail threshing machines.
The exposition of the ironmonger’s shop displays a rich and diverse assortment of goods of inter-war Lithuania and foreign manufacturers. The largest exhibit is a factory-made plough with manufacturer’s label. The exposition also contains examples of chemistry goods: cleaning and scouring products, paint. On the counter you can find flyers, a product catalogue and a notebook. Here you can also find the set of carriage spring bindings the most important parts of which are springs. They are also called risorai. Such sets were sold for forgers and farmers. This displayed set was never used: it was brought to the museum in the same condition as it was purchased in the inter-war ironmonger’s shop. 
Metalworking bench vise consists of two jaws used for pressing blanks or products. They are connected by a joint at the bottom and bolted at the top. The edges of vise are integral and formed of jaws. The vice is bolted on the top of the working bench. The bottom is fitted to the leg of the bench. 
Please take a look at other exhibits of the forgery and agricultural technique. They are marked by numbers 23, 24, 25, 26 and 27 in the audio guide.
(23) Iron strip for the production of threshing-machine 
The special-profile iron strip is used for the production of the blanks. One side is flat and the other has diagonal deep notches. One could purchase such strip in the inter-war ironmonger's shop. 
(24) Iron blank for the production of plough 
One could also purchase this blank for the manufacture of plough in the inter-war ironmonger’s shop. It is flat and separate from a metal strip.
(25) Plough 
This factory-made agricultural tool was used for cultivation of soil. Although a second plough has not survived, we can notice that the stumps of ploughs were fitted to the beams and these were connected to a frame. The regulator and metal strip with a hook are fitted to the frame for coupling a swingletree. There is a handle and a knife fitted to the beam. Shellboard is composed of three parts. Two wheels are fitted on the shafts and the interconnection point has a mechanism with a lever: by lifting the lever one could also lift the wheels. The beam has a plate with an inscription indicating that the plough was produced in Augustas Ventzki machine factory. It was established in 1898 in East Prussia, in Grudziądz current Poland territory) and operated until 1921. 
(26) Axe (adze) 
This asymmetrical tool was used for trimming walls. It is composed of a wooden shaft and a metal head decorated with twisting lines. They form a triangle and marks “XI” and “A” that mostly likely indicate the craftsman. This axe was not used for chopping firewood.
(27) Sowing machine 
The machine is composed of a tin can for placing seeds, seed distribution head, a handle and q support plate with loops for fitting a belt. The machine used to be fitted on the waist of a sower. The rotating handle passed the movement to the seed distribution head via toothed wheels and the seeds were evenly placed to the soil. The machine was painted in red colour. Not every farmer could afford such machine. 
It was used in Paplyniai Village, Šakiai District. 
The ironmonger’s shop used to sell various household techniques. The scales marked by number 28, 29 and 30 were used both by the townsman and the peasant.
(28) Scales (bezmen) 
Bezmen refers to hand scales that were used in Lithuania in the 18th – 19th century as well as in the early 20th century. It was a very popular device as it was convenient to carry and easy to use. Wooden bezmen scales used to be whittled and grinded and metal scales were forged and casted of iron, brass, were handmade and industrial.  Bezmen is an unequal lever: it was held by the moving loop and the weighted object was hung on the hook. The loop on the shaft was placed in such a way that the shaft of bezmen was straight, i.e., there was a balance between the weighted object and thickening. The thickening of the wooden bezmen scales was of the shape of cylinder, barrel and cut cone, whereas in case of the metal bezmen – of various profiles or multisided. The units of measure were marked on the shaft. Having looked at which step is the moving loop, one could find out the weight of the object. When using bezmen scales, the weight could be measured in ounces and kilograms. 
These bezmen scales were manufactured in the late 19th century and were used in Griškabūdis.
(29) Spring scales 
Spring scales used to be held by the ring and the weighted object used to be hung on the hook. The weight forced the index to move along the plate of steps. Certain units of measure, for example, poods or pounds, were indicated on one side of the plate, others – on the other side of the plate. 
Until the First World War, the measuring system of the Russian Empire was used in Lithuania and in 1920, the metrical, measurement and scale system was introduced.
A colour metal scale with steps is fitted to the spring ring: one side is numbered from 0 to 40, the other – from 1 to 10 and from 10 to 400. The index is hinged to the end of one spring ring. Two hooks (one for the larger and one for the smaller weight) and two chains are fitted to the ring. The chains were used to hold the scales.
(30) Balance scales 
The scales were composed of a lever with index and two plates suspended on the chains. Balance or lever scales were either suspended or placed. One plate was used to place the object, the other was used to place the weight. The weight was used in such a way that there would be a balance between the plates, i.e., the masses of the weighted object and weight would be equal. Having calculated the masses of the weights, one could tell the weight of the object. These scales were produced in the late 19th century and were used in Kėbliškiai Village, Prienai District. 
The next exhibit is a padlock.
(31) Padlock 
Manually forged padlocks have been manufactured in Lithuania since the old times, whereas the production of industrial locks started at the end of the 18th century. In the late 19th century, the locks were produced by the factory of bothers Šmidtai in Kaunas. Due to the quality and variety of products, the factory was then considered to be the best company of its kind in the entire Russian Empire.  The factory used an arrow as its trademark. After the First World War, the factory was purchased by brothers Jonas and Juozas Vailokaičiai and reorganised into public limited-liability company “Metalas”. The company produced cast iron, aluminium, copper, bronze and brass moulds as well as various agricultural machines and their parts. 
The forged padlock is composed of shackle and locking mechanism. The shackle is fitted to a cylindrical ring. There are two holes for the locking mechanism. The wide part of the locking mechanism has two rectangular indentations for the key. 
(32) Padlock 
This forged padlock is of a cylindrical shape. One end is fitted with a cover. There are only two cuts on the other side that was used to fit the cover with the hole for the key. The end of the shackle which is placed to the inside of the lock via the gap has the notch for the locking.
(33) Padlock 
This is a cylinder-shaped lock. Both sides of this padlock are fitted with two pairs of shackles. Between one pair of ears on the shaft there is a locking ear. The ends of shaft are riveted. Key fitting is decorated with a stamped blank – ornament. It is riveted to the box of the lock. This forged padlock was likely to be made in the factory.
The next exhibit is the harness bell. The other bells displayed nearby were used when going to the proposal ceremony. 
(34) Bell
Bell with green ornament was brought to the museum from Kraupėnai Village, Ukmergė District. In 1930-1940, it used to be hung on the harness. Later this bell was usually fitted to the fencing of potato fields to chase away boars.
(35) Kerogas stove “GRAETZ”
Kerogas stove with a burner was used to make and heat food. At the bottom of the stove there is a round tank for the kerosene the top of which has a covered hole for filling in kerosene. There are two handles for lifting the stove burner on the sides of the tank. Over the kerosene tank there is an enamelled blue-colour tube with a hole for the flame. Over the tube is the openwork firegrate for placing a pot or a pan. The inscription on the kerosene tank indicates that the stove was made in Berlin. 
(36) Primus stove “OPTIMUS” 
Primus stove was used to make and heat food. This is a pressurised colour metal tank with three supporting legs. The top of the tank has a covered opening for filling in kerosene. Next to the cover is the pressure reduction cog for releasing flammable gas. There is a pump on the side of the tank. The top of primus has a combustion head. After filling the kerosene and locking the cap and pressure reduction cog, the air is pumped and pressure is generated in the tank. Having pumped the air, the fuel burst from the head into the plate around the burner. Then the kerosene is lighted and head of the burner is heated. The kerosene inside the tank is also heated at the same time. The generated gas is lighted in the burner. Pot or pane is placed on the fitted firegrate. 
The brand name on the top of the tank indicates that the stove was made in Sweden. 
Now please take a look at the products of chemical industry. 
(37) Tank of varnish 
In the inter-war Lithuania, the production of rubber, soap, cosmetics and medical needs was attributed to the chemical industry. A lot of factories of chemical industry operated in Klaipėda and Kaunas.
The tank for varnish is of rectangular shape and has a corked neck. There are inscriptions of all four walls of the tank. It is indicated that the varnish was produced in Klaipėda paint and varnish factory “Kolepp”. The instruction manual for the application of varnish in Lithuania and German languages (bilingualism was officially legitimate in Klaipėda region) is provided on the tank. The trademark of factory illustrates a man painted of K and E letters and walking in a flower.  The man holds a tank with inscription “KOLEPP” in his hands. The factory was owned by K. Kolmann and L. Eppel. The inter-war Lithuaniam companies had as excellent marketing skills as today. The label of the tank says that “Kolepp” varnish is produced of the best raw-materials and maintains all air intakes without losing its shine. They can be trusted in every aspect and the quality cannot be overcome by any competing varnishes”. 
(38) Box of paint “Tip-top” 
The paint and varnish factory “Kolorit” was operating in Kaunas in a building No 10 located at Jonavos Street during the inter-war period. Its advertisements declared it to be the first paint factory in Lithuania. It was owned by Isakas Badašas. This factory also produced oil paint “Tip-Top”. The trademark of this factory illustrated a lion standing at its back feet and holding a shield with inscription “KOLORIT”. This exhibited box arrived to the museum as closed and with paint inside. 
(39) Box of scouring powder “Švitra” 
Chemistry factory “Vairas” that used to produce souring powder “Švitra” was also operating in Kaunas. The label of the box declares that this preparation can be used for scrubbing and cleaning almost everything – “knives, forks, sinks, vessels for milk, centrifuges, primuses, baths / water-closets. This powder can be used for cleaning various metal, stone, porcelain, wood and other similar articles”.  This powder was used even for washing dirty hands… To convince purchasers to trust in the effectiveness of the product, the box was decorated with the following advertising slogans:  “ŠVITRA CLEANS EVERYTHING!” and “ŠVITRA SCRUBS EVERYTHING”.
(40) Package of scouring powder “Švitra” 
The fact that the powder was produced in Kaunas chemical factory “Vairas” is proved by the trademark of the factory on the package – the steering wheel illustrated in the triangle. In addition to the instruction manual and advertising slogans, you can also see the “idyllic” image of cleanliness:  the sun is shining bright and a woman is washing the dishes… 
(41) Box of parquet and linoleum wax “AMOR” 
The top of the box used for parquet and linoleum wax has a fitted rotating swivel used for pushing the cover of the box. Over the title “AMOR” there is an illustration of the sitting eagle with its wings spread wide and the shinning sun.  The information on the application of wax is indicated on the box. The following in indicated: “To be applied uniformly and thinly and to be rubbed with a brush or woolly cloth after drying”. 
Exhibit number 42 is the teapot.
(42) Teapot for making tea 
Small teapots were usually heated on samovar or on any other small heating source – spirit or kerosene stove. Water was boiled in larger kettles placed on the stove, inside the cooker or on the cooker. 
The iron and construction material factory owned by brothers Tilmansai that used to operate in the inter-war Kaunas produced various dishes and vessels. This factory was established in 1868. Its original production included nails and wire only. After ten years of activity, the factory started to reprocess metal. It was the first company of this kind in the Russian Empire. According to its size, the factory of brothers Tilmansai was then the first in Russian and second in Europe. In 1911, it had 2,500 employees. In 1934, the company started to produce aluminium and enamel dishes. 
The little pot of the teapot has a spout and a handle on the opposite side. Its outside is covered with blue and the inside – with white enamel. There is a hook near the cap. The hook holds the cap when pouring the tea into the cup. There is an imprint for the finger on the top of handle so that it could be easier to hold. The handle is made hollow in order to avoid burns when holding in a hand. 
(43)  Blender for eggs and watery pastry 
It is a manual blender, or so-called switch. It is used for blending eggs and watery pastry. The switch is placed into a vessel and is held by the oval handle. The other hand turns the wooden handle which then turns two arched blades via the toothed wheel to blend the eggs or pastry. The note on the wheel of toothed gear certifies that the tool was produced and patented in the United States of America in 1904. It was used by the residents of Šiauliai.
(44) Pepper-mill 
This metal pepper-mill was fitted to the table and turned by holding a bended handle. Peppers are filled into the hole of pepper-mill, the tin crusher grinds the pepper inside the mill and they drip out from the duct. The tool was used in the outskirts of Kaunas in the thirst quarter of the 20th century.
(45) Coffee-mill “LEINBROCK” 
The coffee-mill placed on the table is used by manually turning the handle. The handle turns the pair of corner toothed wheels. They turn the vertical shaft with a cone having indentations at the end. The cone is fitted in the cone nest which is also with indentations. Passing to this area, the coffee beans are ground and ground coffee passes to the box fitted below. The name of device is indicated on the body. 
(46) Coffee toaster 
A pan-like coffee toaster has an opened cover. There is a tug fitted to the torso, so-called rinkė. When turning the handle, the blades inside the toaster also turn and mix barley so that it would not burn and would toast evenly. 
This toaster was used to toast barley, oak acorns and carrots on the working days and to toast coffee beans for treating the dear guests.   In the early 20th century, in Lithuania Minor, people used to drink coffee with milk for breakfast and lunch. The toaster was used by the residents Kibrancai in the farm of the size of 50 ha, in Lithuania Minor, Petreliai Village, Šilutė District.
(47) Vegetable crusher “LANDERS, FRARY AND CLARK” 
Manually operating vegetable crusher is made of cast iron. It is fitted to the table. The crusher consists of the tank with cover and disc with knives fitted on the sides. When turning the disk, the knives crush the vegetables inside the tank. Vegetables are pressed by the cover fitted with a hinge. Crushed vegetables fall into a placed tank. The inscription on the side indicates that the device was made in the US company “LANDERS, FRARY AND CLARK” established in the mid 19th century.  
(48) Juicer “ALEXANDERWERK” 
Similar to mincer, this machine is used for squeezing berry juice. It is made of metal and has a wooden handle. The machine is fitted to the table in a vertical position. The body is composed of two parts and can be dismantled. On the top of juicer is the handle and hole for putting berries, on the side is the screw for fitting the machine to the table, at the bottom is the screw for regulating the flow of juice and the duct for juice to run out. Inside the body is a worm with a cone-shaped percolator. The name of juicer is embossed in the front of the body. This exhibit was brought to the museum from Ruguliai Village, Šilutė District. 
(49) Mincer
This metal device with wooden handle was used for mincing meat. Oblong body is fitted to the table. The worm is fitted in the body with a toothed wheel with handle placed at one end.  On the other side of worm there are four-bladed knives fitted on the shaft. The end of shaft is placed into a metal mesh functioning as a bearing. When turning the handle, the pieces of meat passing on the worm are pushed towards the mesh and firmly pressed to it. The rotating four-bladed knife cuts the meat that is pushed through the mesh. On the side of body, is an embossed inscription in Russian: “КАСЛИ”. The toothed wheel contains inscription: “УРАЛ КАСЛИ”. The mincer was produced in the Soviet Union, Ural, in the factory established in Kasli town. They have been produced here since 1929. Until then the mincers were mostly produced for the Soviet market by the factory in Riga that was owned by the Swedes. 
And now we invite you to explore the tools of the woodworker.  They are marked by numbers 50, 51, 52, 53 and 54.
(50) Manual saw 
This saw was used by the woodworker to cut a bended line for small-diameter holes. 
(51) Trying-plane for trying bended surfaces
This trying-plane was used for figurative works – trying of bended surfaces.
(52) Tool for making a saw path
This is a tool for making a saw path. It is used for unbending saw teeth. 
(53) Trying-plane 
This trying-plane was used for trying straight, concave and convex surfaces. It is characterised by a complex framework. The curves of the trying-plane sole are changed by using screws. 
(54) The pot for boiling woodworker's glue 
The pot for boiling glue is composed of two tanks: the bottom cast iron pot with two ears on the sides and the top copper pot with an arch. When boiling the glue, the bottom pot is filled with water and the top pot with woodworker’s glue is placed inside. 
(55) Hooks for putting on boots 
These are extremely rare exhibits made by the forger. The set consists of a pair of hooks. They are used for putting on high shoes. The hooks are placed on the shaft between the ends of asymmetrically bended ring. The ends of the shaft are riveted and heads are invisible. The hooks were fitted on the loops inside the shoe and pulled upwards so that it could be easier to put on the shoes.
(56) Bread cutting machine 
Bread cutting machine is a complex-form factory-made and decorated product with four supporting legs. On the top is the movable table for pushing bread towards the knife. The knife is round and turned by the handle though the toothed wheel gear. The slices of cut bread fall on the board below. The thickness of the slice is adjustable. On the top is a blue colour inscription:  “Aufschnift, Schneide Maschine Westfalia PATENT”. It was made in Germany. This bread cutting machine was used in the canteens of Kaunas in 1930s - 1940s. 
(57) Bread cutting machine “ALEXANDERWERK” 
This machine was used for cutting bread. There are two vertically connected wooden boards on the casted metal supporting legs. At the front is a knife with a handle. When lifting the handle, the loaf of bread is pushed in the tray. The cutting machine does not have the measurer of the size of slice, the further it is pushed, the thicker the slice is cut. The name on the handle indicates “ALEXANDERWERK”.
The last exhibits of the audio guide are the three interesting clothing irons used until the mid 20th century. 
(58) Clothing iron with a pipe 
The clothing iron with a pipe is used for ironing clothes and laundry. It is heated by charcoal. The body of clothing iron is made of cast iron, the handle is wooden and casted. To avoid heating of the hand, there is a bended tin under the handle, so-called the screen of heat reflecting the heat. On the tin is the embossed arrow and inscription “KAUNAS”. At the end of body is a hole with a cap. On the cover is a bas-relief illustrating a bearded man. When opening the cap at the end, the iron is waved and air is blown by the windbag in order for the coal to heat and the iron to be hot. This device was produced in the factory owned by brothers Šmidtai in Kaunas.
(59) Clothing iron with a pipe 
The body of this iron was made of colour metal. Its handle is wooden and casted. There is a hardly legible inscription on the tin. At the end of body there is a hole with a cap and a bas-relief illustrating a young man. This device was used in the Manors of Konstantinas Usevičius in Telšiai and Kretinga Regions until 1945.
(60) Clothing iron without a pipe 
The body of clothing iron is made of colour metal, has a tapering front, therefore, it is convenient when ironing fine areas of clothes, including the lace and wrists. The iron is heated with charcoal. There are holes for letting the smoke out on the top of the body. This clothing iron was used in Ramygala town. 

Thank you for visiting our museum! You can explore the rest of the exposition individually. See you next time!
